FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
12/22/2022  
BY ERIN L. LENNON  
CLERK

FILED  
12/22/2022  
Court of Appeals  
Division II  
State of Washington

No. 55375-9-II

101564-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

MILES MINKLER, Petitioner

---

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT  
OF SKAMANIA COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JUDGE RANDALL C. KROG

---

PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410  
PO Box 829  
Graham, WA  
253-445-7920

## I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Miles Minkler, the appellant below, asks the Court to review the decision of Division II of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section II below.

## II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Miles Minkler seeks review of the Court of Appeals unpublished opinion entered on November 22, 2022. A copy of the opinion is attached as an appendix.

## III. III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Mr. Minkler was entitled to a fair trial. His co-defendant's counsel was demonstrably ineffective. Where codefendant's counsel posed numerous references to Mr. Minkler's constitutional right not to testify, implied he was involved in uncharged crimes, and disregarded a motion in limine linking Mr. Minkler to his co-defendant via social media, was he deprived of a fair trial?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In the summer of 2019 Edward Matheson hired Ryan Rodriguez to power wash the outside of his home. RP 570. Several months later, November 12, 2019, Michael Fischer reportedly met with Ryan Rodriguez and Miles Minkler at a restaurant. RP 941, 1137. Rodriguez was upset because someone had stolen tools from his truck, and he had been unable to retrieve them. RP 942-43. According to Fischer, Rodriguez suggested they steal from Matheson to get money. RP 943-44.

The three were alleged to have obtained gloves and rope to aid in the theft. RP 951-52. Rodriguez brought his airsoft pistol with him. RP 953. When they arrived at Matheson's home, Fischer opened a window and pulled Matheson's computer and tripod camera from a desk. RP 958. Matheson came down the stairs, saw the open window, and yelled as he ran out the front door. He saw his computer and tripod on the ground. RP 579, 583-85.

Fischer and Rodriguez hit and kicked Matheson. One person held Matheson in a chokehold, and one or more repeatedly kicked him. RP 589-90, 592, 961, 963. The men grabbed the computer and ran to Fischer's truck with it. RP 965, 968. Matheson shot at the truck as it left his driveway. RP 592-93, 596, 598-99. Matheson called the police. RP 602-03. He did not know his assailants and never saw anyone's face. RP 600, 607-08, 619, 626.

Mr. Minkler was excluded as a contributor of DNA on the items police recovered. RP 827.

Fischer's girlfriend testified Fischer called her to meet the men at a market to give them a ride home. RP 1085, 1093. She agreed and dropped them off at a hotel. RP 1096.

Fischer kept Matheson's computer and sold some of the parts. Police later recovered what remained of the computer from his parent's home. RP 978.



Minkler was arrested on December 2, 2019. CP 7. Skamania County prosecutors charged him by amended information with robbery in the first degree, burglary in the first degree, assault in the second degree, and an attempted kidnapping in the first degree. CP 139-141. Minkler's defense was general denial. RP 262.

Rodriguez was joined as a co-defendant, and Fischer testified for the State in exchange for a favorable plea deal. RP 238, 404. Mr. Ro represented Rodriguez. RP 93. Rodriguez maintained that he was not involved or present for the assault and robbery of Matheson. RP 560, 561, 1709.

In a pretrial hearing the court denied the state's motion to admit evidence that Matheson had done online reconnoitering and concluded Rodriguez and Minkler were associated on Facebook. RP 282,284.

Nevertheless, Mr. Ro specifically asked Matheson if he recognized or could identify anyone in the courtroom,

“that you feel is also the perpetrator, other than Ryan [Rodriguez]?” RP 672. 626. Matheson said he recognized Minkler because “I looked up on the Daily Populations Community County and I saw ...” RP 672. The court sustained Minkler’s objection. RP 673.

Ro then asked if Matheson had connected Minkler with Rodriguez. Matheson responded, “I found out that they had a business together through google...It was connected to Ryan Rodriguez’s Facebook work page.” RP 678. Ro then asked, “Did you have any – oh, that’s what I was going to ask you. So, you linked it between a Facebook?” RP 673. The court sustained Minkler’s objection. RP 673.

On cross-examination of Fischer, Ro asked him about his relationship to Minkler:

Q. Okay. What would you guys do together if you guys were friends?

A. I don’t know, hang out at the house; go to the casino sometimes -- I don’t know. Whatever.

Q. When you say whatever, would you guys like do drugs together

MR. LANZ: Objection, Your Honor -- 404(b).

The court sustained the Minkler's objection. RP

1019.

Mr. Ro asked Fischer:

Q. Do you know why you're testifying? Why are you testifying? Why have you decided to testify? Can you tell the jury?

A. To --

Q. Why have you decided to sit here and come here instead of having a lawyer, like, why, you know, Mr. Minkler?

A. I don't think I had much of a choice.

THE COURT: Mr. Ro.

RP 1026.

Mr. Ro asked Rodriguez:

Q. Okay. Now I want to ask you -- you heard

here during the testimony that Mr. Lanz had said my client wishes to not testify. Did you hear that?

A. Yes, I heard that.

MR. LANZ: Your Honor, I'm going to object as far as wherever this is going. It's not relevant and it's improper.

THE COURT: Overruled. And I'm going to watch where ...

BY MR. RO:

Q. You heard that?

A. I heard that.

Q. Why are you testifying?

A. *Because I've got nothing to hide.*

The court sustained an objection. RP 1603.

Ro questioned Rodriguez's mother-in-law, and she described his tools having been stolen from his truck. She said the person who had been helping him fix a car was "riff-raff." After objection by Minkler, she said,

I thought he was riff raff and he knew that and he didn't have him around very often. But like I said, he invited him over to help him on the car. This – that guy Milo [Minkler], brought a –

RP 1437.

Again, Minkler objected and the court ordered the jury to disregard the comments. When directed to ask a

new question, Mr. Ro asked whether she had heard whether Rodriguez's BB gun had been stolen. Again, the court sustained the objection by Minkler. RP 1438.

When questioning Fischer's girlfriend, the following exchange occurred:

Q. [Mr. Ro]: And you're not sure if you saw any signs of whether any of the other people in the car were drunk or on drugs?

A. Honestly, I just figured that they were all on drugs because I

MR. LANZ: Objection, Your Honor, to speculation.

THE COURT: Sustained. Disregard the last question and comment.

RP 1111.

Minkler was found guilty on all counts. CP 255-258. He appealed and the Court of Appeals held the assault second degree elevated the robbery to the first degree and must be merged and ordered a resentencing with a corrected offender score and directions to strike witness fees and mileage costs. (Appendix p.2, 35).

## V. ARGUMENT

In its opinion, the Court of Appeals found that Mr. Minkler's co-defendant's counsel, Mr. Ro, performed deficiently, the deficient performance prejudiced the co-defendant, and he had been deprived of a fair trial. (*Appendix at p.1*).

However, the Court concluded Mr. Minkler was not deprived of a fair trial, despite Mr. Ro's inept questioning<sup>1</sup>, references to Mr. Minkler's exercise of his right to remain silent, pointed questions to imply Minkler may have used illicit drugs, and a violation of a motion in limine to prevent a witness from linking Mr. Minkler with the co-defendant through social media.

---

<sup>1</sup> The trial court commented that Mr. Ro's questioning was not only improper, but the worst line of questioning it had ever heard both as a judge and as an attorney. RP 1554. The trial court asked Mr. Ro if he even understood the rules of evidence. RP 1556-57.

This Court should accept review of the matter because it is a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and of the United States. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

The right to a fair trial is a fundamental liberty secured by the State and Federal Constitutions. U.S. Const. Amend. VI; Wash. Const. Art. I §22. Only a fair trial is a constitutional trial. *State v. Charlton*, 90 Wn.2d 657, 665, 585 P.2d 142 (1978).

Due process asks whether attorney misconduct prejudiced the jury and denied the defendant a fair trial. *State v. Davenport*, 100 Wn.2d 757, 762, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984). In the context of improper argument by counsel for a co-defendant, the Court's uses the same standard as it would when addressing improper argument by the State's counsel. *State v. Dickerson*, 69 Wn.App.744, 747, 850 P.2d 1366 (rev. denied 122 Wn.2d 1013 863 P.2d 73 (1993)).

a. Comment On The Right To Silence

Comments made by a co-defendant's counsel regarding the defendant's exercise of his right to not testify are error and may require reversal. *Id.* at 747. The effect on a jury regarding comments by a co-defendant's attorney might be more harmful than one from a judge or a prosecutor. *DeLuna v. United States*, 308 F.2d 140, 152, 1 A.L.R.3d 969 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1962).

In *DeLuna*, and *State v. Fiallo-Lopez*, 787 Wn.App. 717, 899 P.2d 1294 (1995), the jury was advised the defendant had no obligation to testify. However, co-defendant's counsel in *DeLuna* and the State's attorney in *Fiallo-Lopez* commented on the defendant's unwillingness to take the stand. *Fiallo-Lopez*, 78 Wn.App. at 729. In both cases, the convictions were reversed.

This case should be decided like *DeLuna* and *Fiallo-Lopez*. Here, Mr. Ro twice directly raised Minkler's exercise of his right not to testify. The questioning



impermissibly directed the jury to conclude Minkler was the guilty party. In an almost immediate follow up to the commentary on Minkler's right to remain silent, Ro asked Rodriguez, "In your – without saying—in your head, do you have an idea you think you might know who did it?" RP 1604. The goal of Mr. Ro's questioning was to improperly place guilt on Minkler by highlighting the exercise of his right to not testify.

Minkler's attorney objected to the comments, which were sustained by the court. Sustaining the objection cannot be assumed to erase the impact of the violation.

"Even if it were true that reasonable men cannot avoid drawing 'natural inferences from an accused's silence,' that is quite a different thing from having the silence emphasized by comment. The imputation of guilt from silence, if it does nothing else, may confuse the jury as to the presumption of innocence in favor of the accused."

*DeLuna*, 308 F.2dat 152.

In improper conduct cases, prejudice is not a matter of whether there is enough evidence to justify upholding the verdict, but instead whether there is a substantial likelihood the instances affected the jury's verdict. *State v. Allen*, 182 Wn.2d 364, 375-76, 341 P.3d 268 (2015). Confidence in the outcome of the trial was undermined by the improper comments that went directly toward violating Minkler's right to the presumption of innocence.

b. Mr. Ro Violated Minkler's Right to A Fair Trial When He Asked Witnesses If Minkler Used Drugs

"A person being tried on a criminal charge can be convicted only by evidence, not by innuendo." *State v. Miles*, 139 Wn.App. 879, 886, 162 P.3d 1169 (2007).

When a defendant has not been charged with a particular crime, ER 404(b) and ER 609 provide, except in limited circumstances and for limited purposes, a prohibition of admission of other crimes or conduct. *State v. Essex*, 57 Wn.App. 411, 416-417, 788 P.2d 589 (1990).

Here, Mr. Ro asked a witness if he did drugs with Minkler. RP 1019. The question was irrelevant and highly prejudicial. Whenever evidence is likely to stimulate an emotional response rather than a rational decision, the danger of unfair prejudice exists. *State v. Beadle*, 173 Wn.2d 97, 265 P.3d 863 (2011).

Irrelevant allegations likely to stimulate a negative emotional response create confusion in the minds of jurors and unfairly prejudice a defendant. ER 403.

The conduct continued. After a sustained objection, Ro asked the witness if he was a drug addict. Thus, even if the previous question were left unanswered, this question created a presumption that if the witness admitted to being a drug addict, the jury could presume Minkler was also a drug addict.

Then he asked, "Do you know with drug addicts if they have to get their fix do some people have to get any kind of money to get their fix?" RP 1024. The court

sustained the objection of Minkler's counsel, but again, the innuendo was that Minkler used drugs and he robbed Matheson to get money to pay for drugs.

Ro asked yet another witness if Minkler or anyone else was under the influence of drugs when she saw Minkler and the others that night. RP 1111. The witness answered, "Honestly, I just figured that there were all on drugs."

The court sustained the objection and instructed the jury to disregard the last question and answer. Whether jurors were properly instructed to disregard remarks of counsel not supported by evidence is but one factor in determining whether the error affected the outcome of the trial. *Essex* 57 Wn.App. at 416; *State v. Gilchrist*, 91 Wn.2d 603, 612, 590 P.2d 809 (1979).

The question was entirely irrelevant to any issue before the jury.

“It is not an easy task to unring a bell nor to remove from the mind an impression once firmly imprinted there, and the withdrawal of the testimony should be so emphatic as to leave no doubt in the mind of the juror as to the unequivocal repudiation by the court of the erroneously admitted matter.

*State v. Rader*, 62 Or.37, 40, 124 P.195 (1912).

The highly prejudicial innuendos raised by the improper questioning seriously jeopardized Minkler’s right to a fair trial.

The conduct continued when Mr. Ro posed questions about items being stolen from his client’s truck. RP 1437. Again, the implication from the questioning and answers was that Minkler was “riff-raff” and had stolen from the co-defendant. RP 1438. The court sustained the objections and instructed the jury to disregard the comments, but the bell had again been rung, and the sound was a cumulative and ongoing echo.

c. The Violation of The Motion In Limine Added To  
The Incurable Prejudice

The court excluded any mention of social media information that might indicate Minkler, and the co-defendant were associated with one another. RP 287. Nevertheless, Mr. Ro specifically asked Matheson if he had linked Rodriguez and Minkler through Facebook. RP 673.

Even after a sustained objection, Mr. Ro pursued Matheson's self-directed online research and asked if he gave the name Miles Minkler when talking to police. RP 674. Matheson had been clear; he never saw his attackers and could not identify who harmed him. The court had deemed the Facebook information inadmissible without a foundation. However, Ro still pursued the topic.

As a prosecutor commits misconduct by encouraging the jury to decide a case based on evidence outside of the record, here Mr. Ro's improper conduct

resulted in the introduction of inadmissible highly prejudicial innuendo with no foundation for the truth of the matter.

The doctrine of cumulative errors applies where several trial errors, none of which standing alone is sufficient to call for reversal, when combined may have denied the defendant a fair trial. *State v. Hartzell*, 156 Wn.App. 918, 237 P.3d 928 (2010). The test of whether cumulative errors require reversal of a defendant's conviction is whether the totality of the circumstances substantially prejudiced the defendant and denied him a fair trial. *Rookstool v. Eaton*, 12 Wn.App.2d 301, 457 P.3d 1144 (2020).

Here, the pointed references to Minkler invoking his right to remain silent, the deliberate questioning on irrelevant and highly prejudicial innuendo about drug use and theft, and the violation of the motion in limine

regarding possible associations found on the internet all prejudiced Mr. Minkler.

The deficient performance by counsel for Mr. Rodriguez spilled over into violating Mr. Minkler's right to a fair trial. The cumulative error doctrine compels a reversal and remand for a new trial.

## VI. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts and authorities, Mr. Minkler respectfully asks this Court to accept review.

This document contains 2702 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.

Submitted this 22nd day of December 2022.



Marie Trombley  
WSBA 41410  
PO Box 829  
Graham, WA 98338