FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/24/2023 4:50 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. **101564-0** COA NO. **55375-9-II**

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

MILES MINKLER, Petitioner

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SKAMANIA COUNTY

THE HONORABLE RANDALL C. KROG, JUDGE

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ADAM NATHANIEL KICK Skamania County Prosecuting Attorney

DEREK A. SCHEURER Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Skamania County Prosecuting Attorney P.O Box 790 240 N.W. Vancouver Ave. Stevenson, Washington 98648

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

III. ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD DENY DISCRETIONARY APPEALS REVIEW BECAUSE THE COURT OF CORRECTLY DETERMINED MINKLER RECEIVED A FAIR TRIAL DESPITE REMARKS BY CO-**DEFENDANT'S COUNSEL.**

The Court of Appeals' decision (hereinafter cited as, "Opinion") correctly concluded Minkler received a fair trial notwithstanding certain improper questions or comments at trial by co-defendant Rodriguez's defense counsel (hereinafter, "defense counsel"). Minkler argues that "[t]his Court should accept review of the matter because it is a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and of the United States." Br. of Pet. at 10 (citing RAP 13.4(b)(3)). However, Minkler's petition fails to show how the Court of Appeals' decision in this case meets that criterion.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a defendant a fair trial but not a trial free from error. *State v. Reed*, 102 Wn.2d 140, 145, 684 P.2d 699 (1984). The Court of Appeals has evaluated alleged improper comments by counsel for co-defendant under the same standard as prosecutorial misconduct. *State v. Dickerson*, 69 Wn. App. 744, 747, 850 P.2d 1366 (1993). In cases of prosecutorial (and by extension codefendant counsel's) misconduct, the burden rests on the defendant to show that the conduct was both improper and prejudicial. *State v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 858, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006). Once proved, prosecutorial

- 17 -

misconduct is grounds for reversal where there is a substantial likelihood the improper conduct affected the jury. *Id.* at 841, 147 P.3d 1201; *State v. Belgarde,* 110 Wn.2d 504, 508, 755 P.2d 174 (1988).

In determining whether a trial irregularity prejudiced the jury so as to deny the defendant his right to a fair trial, courts consider: (1) the seriousness of the irregularity; (2) whether the statement at issue was cumulative evidence; (3) whether the jurors were properly instructed to disregard the remarks of counsel not supported by the evidence; and (4) whether the prejudice was so grievous that nothing short of a new trial could remedy the error. *State v. Mak*, 105 Wn.2d 692, 701, 718 P.2d 407 (1986).

A defendant's failure to object at trial waives any error unless the prosecutor's misconduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction could not have cured any resulting prejudice. *State v. Emery,* 174 Wn.2d 741, 760-61, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). Under this heightened standard, the defendant must show that (1) no curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury and (2) the misconduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict. *Id.* at 761.

A. <u>The Court Of Appeals Correctly Concluded</u> <u>Co-Defendant's That Counsel's Indirect</u> <u>Remarks About Minkler's Decision Not To</u> <u>Testify Did Not Violate His Right To A Fair</u> <u>Trial</u>.

The Court of Appeals correctly determined Rodriguez's counsel did not violate Minkler's right to a fair trial in relation to two comments indirectly touching upon Minkler's decision not to testify.

First, on redirect examination of Fischer, defense

counsel engaged in the following exchange:

[Defense counsel] And just to reiterate what Lanz had said -- you are here today because -- and I asked that at the beginning. Do you know why you're testifying? Why are you testifying? Why have you decided to testify? Can you tell the jury? . . . Why have you decided to sit here and come here instead of having a lawyer, like why, you know, Minkler?

[Fischer] I don't think I had much of a choice....

[Defense counsel] What do you mean?

[Fischer] I couldn't just have my lawyer come do this.

[Defense counsel] What do you mean by that?

[Fischer] That I'm supposed -- I have to be here.

[Defense counsel] Yeah, yeah. I mean, do you know -- why are you doing this? Why are you testifying against Minkler and Rodriguez, my client? Why are you doing that?

[Fischer] I guess to get a lesser sentence.

RP 1026-27. Defense counsel's question to Fischer never

even alluded to Minkler's decision not to testify. RP 1026.

As the Court of Appeals properly, noted, questioning

shows defense counsel intended to undermine Fischer's

credibility as a witness for the State, rather than comment

on Minkler's decision not to testify. Opinion at 29-30. Far

from prejudicial, Fischer's admission that he was

testifying against the co-defendants "to get a lesser

sentence," RP 1027, likely helped Minkler, as the Court of

Appeals noted, Opinion at 30.

Second, the Court of Appeals properly found that

the following exchange, while improper, did not prejudice

Minkler:

[Defense counsel] Now I want to ask you -- you heard here during the testimony that Lanz had said my Client wishes to not testify. Did you hear that?

[Rodriguez] Yes, I heard that.

MR. LANZ: Your Honor, I'm going to object as far as wherever this is going. It's not relevant and it's improper.

THE COURT: Overruled. And I'm going to watch where –

[Defense counsel] You heard that?

[Rodriguez] I heard that.

[Defense counsel] Why are you testifying?

[Rodriguez] Because I've got nothing to hide.

MR. ROBINSON: Objection --

relevance.

THE COURT: Sustained.

RP 1602-03. Here, Minkler's counsel objected, but failed

to request a curative instruction or move for mistrial.

The Court of Appeals correctly found the trial court's

instructions to the jury minimized any prejudice arising from defense counsel's remarks. Instruction No. 5 provided, "A defendant is not required to testify. You may not use the fact that a defendant has not testified to infer guilt or to prejudice him in any way." CP 196. Instruction No. 3 informed the jurors that "[t]he defendant has no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists [and] is presumed innocent." CP 194. The jury is presumed to follow the court's instructions. State v. Weber, 99 Wn.2d 158, 166, 659 P.2d 1102 (1983). This single comment within the context of the four-day trial was highly unlikely to have influenced the jury's decision. Because neither of defense counsel's comments substantially prejudiced Minkler, neither deprived him of a fair trial.

Minkler's citation to the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals case, *De Luna v. U.S.*, 308 F.2d 140, 1 A.L.R. 969 (5th Cir. 1962) for analogous support is distinguishable from our record and non-binding. There,

- 22 -

the Court reversed the defendant's conviction upon finding counsel for the co-defendant made repeated and direct remarks during closing argument imputing guilt to De Luna for his decision not to testify at trial. *Id.* at 155. Co-defendant's counsel's defense strategy relied heavily upon drawing attention to the De Lunas silence to shift suspicion away from the co-defendant. Those remarks included but were not limited to the following:

Well, at least one man was honest enough and had courage enough to take the stand and subject himself to cross examination and tell you the whole story, and tell you that, "Yes, I first colored the story, but when I got back to my senses I told the truth, and that's the whole thing." You haven't heard a word from this man (de Luna).

Id. at 143. See also *id.* at n.1 (providing additional context).

In contrast to *De Luna*, defense counsel's line of questioning constituted an isolated reference to a fact already known by the jury. While Rodriguez's statement that he "had nothing to hide" may have carried a prejudicial inference that Minkler had something to hide, this was an indirect suggestion, for which Minkler's attorney did not request an instruction or mistrial. Unlike the attorney in De Luna, defense counsel here did not emphasize the co-defendant's silence as a defense strategy. During closing argument, defense counsel never raised that subject and never even mentioned Minkler. Instead of attempting to shift blame to Minkler, defense counsel's strategy was concerned with portraying his client as being open and forthright in response to the State's charges, while also attempting to undercut the credibility of the State's witnesses. The Court of Appeals correctly found Minkler failed to demonstrate prejudice substantially likely to affect the jury's verdict.

B. <u>The Court Of Appeals Correctly Concluded</u> <u>That Co-Defendant's Counsel's</u> <u>Questioning About Drug Use Did Not</u> <u>Violate Minkler's Right To A Fair Trial</u>.

The Court of Appeals properly determined defense counsel's question about drug use had no impact on Minkler's right to a fair trial. Minkler identifies three instances. Br. of Pet. at 14-16. In the first, defense counsel cross-examined Fischer:

[Defense counsel] What would you [and Minkler] do together if you guys were friends?

[Fischer] I don't know, hang out at the house; go to the casino sometimes -- I don't know. Whatever.

[Defense counsel] When you say whatever, would you guys like do drugs together --

MR. LANZ: Objection, Your Honor -- 404(b).

THE COURT: Thank you. Sustained.

RP 1019-20. Following the objection, defense counsel

immediately moved on to other subjects. RP 1020.

In the second instance, after asking Fischer about a

graphics card he sold that he had aided in stealing from

Matheson, defense counsel asked:

[Defense counsel] And do [graphics cards] have value?

[Fischer] Yeah.

[Defense counsel] In the past, were you a drug addict?

[Fischer] Yeah.

[Defense counsel] Do you know with drug addicts if they have to get their fix, do -do some people have to get any kind of money to get their fix?

MR. ROBINSON: Objection -- relevance.

THE COURT: Sustained.

RP 1024-25.

In the third instance, while cross-examining Ms.

Silvis, defense counsel asked:

[Defense counsel] On that day though when you were -- I mean, were you drunk in any way?

[Ms. Silvis] No, absolutely not.[Defense counsel] Drugged?[Ms. Silvis] I'm not a drinker. I don't do drugs.[Defense counsel] No drugs at all?[Ms. Silvis] Not at all.

[Defense counsel] And you're not sure if you saw any signs of whether any of the other people in the car were drunk or on drugs?

[Ms. Silvis] Honestly, I just figured that they were all on drugs because I --

MR. LANZ: Objection, Your Honor, to speculation.

THE COURT: Sustained. Disregard the last question and comment.

RP 1110-11.

The Court of Appeals' correctly decided that Minkler was not prejudiced by the above questioning because the trial court's instructions to the jury to disregard prevented testimony about drug use from entering the record. The Court noted that, absent a motion to strike or instruction to disregard, that testimony "remains part of the record for the jury to consider." *State v. Fluker*, 5 Wn. App. 374, 396, 425 P.3d 903 (2018). It is well-accepted that when instructed to disregard certain testimony, the jury is presumed to have followed the court's instructions. *State v. Cunningham*, 51 Wn.2d 502, 505, 319 P.2d 847 (1958). In the first two instances, objections to defense counsel's questions about drug use prevented improper testimony from entering the record for the jury's consideration. In the third instance, the trial court sustained an objection and instructed the jury to disregard the question and answer. Instruction No. 1 to the jury stated in part, "if I have asked you to disregard any evidence, then you must not discuss that evidence during your deliberations or consider it in reaching your verdict." CP 190. The Court of Appeals aptly determined that the questioning about drug use did not enter the record and did not deprive Minkler of a fair trial.

C. <u>The Court Of Appeals Correctly Concluded</u> <u>That</u> <u>Co-Defendant's</u> <u>Counsel's</u> <u>Questioning Regarding Matheson's Use Of</u> <u>Social Media Did Not Violate Minkler's</u> <u>Right To A Fair Trial</u>.

The Court of Appeals properly found no violation of Minkler's right to a fair trial when co-defendant's defense counsel questioned Matheson about his online investigation of the co-defendants. Addressing pretrial exclusionary motions, the trial court excluded "any reference that [Mr. Matheson] looked at social media and determined that [the co-defendants] were associated together." RP 289. Minkler suggests the following exchange violated the court's order:

[Defense counsel] Did you connect -you said Miles Minkler. Did you connect that name with Ryan?

[Mr. Matheson] I found out that they had a business together, with through Google. It was connected to Ryan Rodriguez's Facebook work page.

[Defense counsel] Did you have any -oh, that's what I was going to ask you. So you linked it between a Facebook?

[Mr. Matheson] Well, there's --

MR. LANZ: And, Your Honor, I'm going to object as far as now having a lack of foundation and hearsay.

THE COURT: Sustained.

RP 673.

The Court of Appeals correctly found only minimal prejudice from the above exchange, given later admissible testimony established the co-defendants associated together prior to the incident. Opinion at 31-32. This decision follows precedent establishing that improper admission of evidence constitutes harmless error if the evidence is cumulative or of only minor significance in reference to the evidence as a whole. *Brown v. Spokane County Fire Protection Dist. No. 1*, 100 Wn.2d 188, 196, 668 P.2d 571 (1983).

Other testimony by Matheson stated he discovered through a Google search that Minkler and Rodriguez had a business relationship, RP 674, did not violate the trial court's order. In addition, Fischer testified that Minkler and Rodriguez were "[f]riends," RP 937, and that Minkler "would help [Rodriguez] with things," RP 938, and that Fischer met with both to plan the burglary of Matheson's residence, RP 942-44. Fischer's girlfriend, Rachel Silvis, testified that she knew Minkler and Rodriguez were friends. RP 1082. Rodriguez testified Minkler was his employee, that they worked together, and that Rodriguez invited him to his house more than once. RP 1590-93. Detective Schultz had knowledge that the co-defendants knew each other since 2018. RP 1161-62. Also, Todd Dillmon, a Washington State Department of Corrections probation officer, testified that he knew Miles Minkler, Ryan Rodriguez, and Michael Fischer were associated with each other. All this testimony mitigated any prejudice from Matheson's testimony about discovering the codefendants' association via Facebook. Defense counsel's improper questioning of Matheson was therefore unlikely to have substantially affected the jury's verdict.

IV. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals correctly applied legal precedent to the particular facts of the case. Therefore, no significant questions of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States are involved, and this decision does not qualify for discretionary review. The petitioner received a fair trial. This Court should deny the petition for discretionary review.